Muster 6.1
Forging the Future

By 290M35, to say the economy and the military of the Hive World of Nyx struck fear in the hearts of their rivals and enemies would have been a great lie. Nyx was a Hive World of two hundred and fifty-four billion humans, the records all agreed on this. But two years ago over a hundred regiments had been routed in a single battle on Fagus by the greenskins, a disaster even the Imperial propaganda didn’t manage to hide from the public for more than a few days. The life-expectancy of the average Nyx guardsman was calculated to be 20.4 hours, and given how many regiments were destined for garrison duty and rear-line occupation forces, it was not exactly a morale-raiser.
Meagre consolation, the Menelaus dynasty had never been a real believer in general conscription and large permanent PDF forces. Before the death of the last Heir of this incompetent line, the percentage of Nyxians under arms was at 0.507%, and the Planetary Defence Force, nobility private guards included, stood approximately at four hundred and forty-one million.
If that year an Administratum tithe-master had voiced an idea to compare Nyx and the Hive of World of Zion, seat of power of the Vandire Clan, it is incredibly he would have been laughed at for days. 
Capital of the Zion Sector in the Core of Segmentum Solar, the planet boasted an overall population of four hundred and seventy-eight billion souls, and its primary tithe was more than six times greater than the world-fiefdom of the Lady Basileia. The PDF regiments of Zion were the next best thing to three billion and five hundred million strong. Zion was a vital system interconnected with dozens of worlds of similar value in Segmentum Solar. Nyx, by contrast, was a non-special Capital Sector in the middle of hundreds of unremarkable Sectors somewhere in the south-eastern regions of Ultima Segmentum.
This was what the numbers at first sight suggested. But while Nyx at the end of 290M35 was far from exceptional in the eyes of the Departmento Munitorum, it was getting better. The confiscations and punishments administered to the Nyx nobility and the reforms had divided by four the total systemic debt of the Hive World, decreasing it to 3.1 trillion Throne Gelts. By 291M35, budget equilibrium was reached, and between the military reforms and the more sensible production methods, 39.2% of the Lady-Saint spending was in military-related programs.
Zion had far more outstanding debts, internal and external. In the same currency, the systemic debt of the homeworld of Clan Vandire was of 917.8 trillion Throne Gelts. Of course, the Solar Hive World had far more resources, clients, and favours to draw from in case they met any problems or economic difficulties. But seats in the Senatorum Imperialis – even lower ones – were not noted to be cheap and affordable to the first petitioner. Zion’s economy was more and more devoted to the ambitions of its ruling family, and as the war against the greenskins ended in the Nyx Sector, the Zion one was spending 67.3% in military construction, equipment, tithes, and bribes of diverse types. The deficit per year was in the vicinity of 11%. 
This should have raised some alarms and deep concerns from the overseers of the Zion Sector. But the majority of the Tithe-masters, Procurators, Prefects and other Adepts were bought and paid for by the Vandire Clan. Accusations disappeared before they arrived to an Arbites Precinct-Fortress. Opponents were murdered in public or found themselves bound for Penal colonies.
It didn’t change the fact that between 290M35 and 350M35, the ability of Zion to muster and equip forces took a sharp downturn. In these sixty years, the Core-Solar Hive World had to face twenty-seven major rebellions in its secondary Hives, and the Sector as a whole hardly knew peace, when each creation of taxes made the situation explode in laser and shrapnel. The Nyx System, in the mean time, had not to face a significant insurrection.
So the two Hive Worlds followed different courses in this third century of the 35th millennium. Xerxes Vandire, Secretary Minister of the Departmento Exacta was the favourite candidate to become the next Lord of the Adeptus Administratum. And at the time, whatever the official hyper-scrolls said, the Vandire patriarch was the Zion Sector Lord, with several hundred other planets and two more full Sectors taking orders from him. This was very good news for Clan Vandire, although the Imperial subjects of Zion could be forgiven to wonder where the taxes they paid were going. 
Neither Nyx nor Zion knew it in 290M35, but the choices they made for their society would become quite critical sixty years down the line...
Extract from Tithes and Crusades by Christian Cicero, 999M36. 
“Faith and motivation are critical for our guardsmen. But if we do not give them carapace armour and a working lasgun, they are not going to last long against the greenskins,” attributed to Lady-Saint Taylor Hebert, Basileia of Nyx, 289M35. 
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Thought for the day: A small mind is easily filled with faith. 
Private Xavier Sebas  

Xavier was not the only one to groan when the strident morning alarm woke them up. 
No, contrary to what the Sergeants barked, it was not pleasant to be forced to leave your couch at four in the morning. And they had gone to sleep at ten minutes before eleven in the evening last night, after mounting guard and fulfilling ten thousand tiring duties. Yesterday, it was Governor’s Day. Today, it was Mechanicus Day. The cogboys hadn’t been able to arrive in time for Governor’s Day, so for some reason nobody had explained to the 392nd PDF Infantry, the Martians must have their day of parade too.
The whole company hurried up to wash and make sure their uniforms were as perfect as possible. They had been chosen this month for garrison and bodyguard duty into the spire, and according to their officers, this meant ‘your appearance has to be more impeccable than impeccable, Private!’
Xavier liked the looks of the new uniform. They had the blue-black carapace armour, the new lasgun, the sealed helmet with temperature regulation and plenty of things which had once upon a time been reserved to the Nyx Purebloods and the other noble guards. Plus they were authorised to wear the silver bee above their hearts. It was a great honour, and one his parents had constantly told him would never happen. But it had arrived! They were no longer patrolling and told to terrorise the Lover Hives into submission. 
They were granted a rapid breakfast in the form of rations, before the Captain gave them their assignments for this day of celebrations and stern-unyielding vigilance. It was the Lieutenant’s words, not his.
“Aster, Xavier...” the Lieutenant read a list of some thirty names before stopping, “and Jan, you’re on detached bodyguard duty with me today. Follow me, and don’t get lost. The security teams have already begun their work, and they don’t need a lost Whiteshield in the middle of their preparations.”
They did not run, but it was close. The Lieutenant had decided for a fast pace to wake them up. All around them, the corridors of the fortress where they had their living quarters were waking up. They heard plenty of groans, shouts and protestations before passing the gates and reaching a macro-elevator. They had to share it with a dozen Tech-Priests, but the cogboys buzzed and made weird moves with their metal things for the two minutes they spent with them. After that they continued marching.
The decoration began to shift from the grey and austere military looks to soft carpets, paintings and the men and women they were meeting were all dressed like they were already on parade...except they were servants.
They arrived at their destination after twenty minutes, the night soldiers – PDF from the Nyx 874rd Reconnaissance – formally transferred the custody of whoever they were supposed to protect to them, and they took position on each side of the corridor. 
“Who are we guarding, Lieutenant?” demanded Aster after long minutes of silence.
“Valentin Seignelas, Baron of Seignelas-Essex,” their officer whispered after checking if there was noise to indicate their charge had heard it and telling wordlessly he was in for a world of trouble.
“A noble,” someone spoke with disgust, and Xavier nodded in approval. Bloody useless nobles. They had done nothing for centuries and millennia, but they were always so satisfied with themselves, telling everyone it was the will of the God-Emperor it was His Will they were at the top and everyone else at the bottom. But He had sent His Saint, and their speeches had revealed to be huge lies.
“No, he’s The Noble,” replied the Lieutenant, and despite his voice being a murmur, you could hear the capital letters. “He’s been the Controller General of Finances of the Basileia for a couple months, and his fellows have already nicknamed it the Tax-Traitor. So whatever you say about him, don’t say it in public where the Astartes and the Ministers can hear you.”
 Xavier was not convinced, by the vox he knew the others weren’t convinced to, but if the Basileia had nominated the man to the position...
The loud bells of the nearby churches were tolling for the first time of the day at six when the door opened for the first time. The Lieutenant entered, bowed, and returned to his previous sentry position.
Five minutes later, the door opened a second time, and the man they had the duty to protect on their oaths left the room where he must have been sleeping after Governor’s Day. 
Xavier had thought the nobles only came in two categories: those who were obese and those who were sick from birth because cousins had married together for a thousand years.
But this Baron was not that. He was taller than Xavier and the Lieutenant; Valentin de Something-Something had to be 1m80 or 1m82. The ‘highborn’ was broad-shouldered and manifestly was doing some sportive activity because the muscles could be seen under his dark blue clothes. The older man wore a blue wig and above his heart had a golden brooch which was shaped like a butterfly.
That was all. There was no powdered face, no hands with dozens of rings, no military medals proclaiming triumphs that had not taken place.
In a few words, this noble was not typical of his class.
The observations had to be stopped there, because the Controller General told a few words to the Lieutenant and they quickly left the place by the main gate before marching up the street and entering a new big palace. There were huge placards indicating they were in front of the ‘Controller General Department and Regulation Building’. And the signs were not shy in telling the purpose of this palace. It was the imposition, regulation, collection and oversight of taxes.
Somehow, Xavier wasn’t able say he had much confidence in the Baron after knowing this. The noble was the great tax collector of Nyx. Why did the Saint trust this noble while he was collecting her money?
“Ladies and gentlemen, we can begin our duties in the name of the Lady Basileia and the Mighty God-Emperor. There will be an exceptional three hours of break to watch the Mechanicus parade in the afternoon. All signs to manifest your support between the alliance of Holy Terra and Blessed Mars are welcome. That will be all.”
The Controller General had merely paused for two minutes, saluting a few of his subordinates and servants, and then he climbed two series of stairs, the Lieutenant and ten men preceding him per his instructions. 
The hall they entered was something Xavier had never seen before too. 
There were screens and machines everywhere, with dozens of people looking like accountants walking between them, making queries, noting things on their data-slates, and resuming their walk. And apart from a small cohort of guards, they didn’t even bow or appear to notice when the Baron entered this palace-office.
The noble barely took the time to get rid of his blue vest on a chair before beginning to run all over the place, giving complicated instructions to every person in his way.
“The ceramite licenses of this transport have not been paid! Contact the Euboea spaceport!”
“The Marquis of Great Biscay has paid two million less than he owes the Treasury. We must rectify this!”
“Kindly inform the Mauritius Cartel they must respect the new procedures. And at the next infraction, I will inform the Arbites myself.”
The Baron was like one of these drug-addicts you found everywhere in the Lower Hive before last year...except he was twice as excited and he had no drugs in his blood. He was too...confident and intelligent for that.
Seeing him run from one end of the hall to another was like watching one of the musicians they had seen yesterday. What were they called again? It was orchestra master or something like that, except this noble was doing it for taxes and money. The blue-wigged man seemed to understand everything, and to anticipate the most unlikely news.
And he was doing it at a moment when millions of people were celebrating and partying. It was...humbling.
“I wonder where he got the painting,” Aster said in a burst of vox communication.
“The painting?”
The PDF private made a discrete sign in the direction of the abandoned chair close to the stairs. It had to be the Controller General’s, and the same had to be true of the desk. But in over twenty minutes, the Baron had not gone in this direction once.
As they were supposed to patrol over the room, Xavier moved a bit further on the right than what truly necessary and indeed there was a painting on the wall behind the desk. It was almost hidden by piles of data-repositories and shelves, but once he was in front of the desk there was no way to miss it.
The painting was beautiful. The colours were so brilliant, so pure. It was representing a crowd surrounding a woman in golden armour and several Angels of Death, and Xavier knew for sure this was the Basileia has she had stood over one year ago. The title, painted in golden letters, was the Saint’s Landing. 
“Maybe this noble isn’t that bad...”
Archmagos Prime Gastaph Hediatrix

The ceremonies and the parades had been long and worthy of the Martian Twelfth Fleet. It deserved to be mentioned. These days, most of the Planetary Governors who were not tied to the Adeptus Mechanicus in some way were reluctant to offer planet-wide celebrations to the representatives of Blessed Mars.
Unfortunately, it also meant the negotiations had been shortened to their bare minimum, and when the polite request to gather again tomorrow had been spoken, the evening had ceded its place to the night. Flesh-and-bone beings needed their hours of sleep, even if the Magi and Archmagi didn’t.
Still, it had been far from a common and unproductive day. Marvel of marvels, the entire delegation had been able to see and pray in front of a Holy Standard Construct Database, and Gastaph acknowledged it was unlikely he would see a second one in his life. 
His command staff and himself had been able to scan and observe the first sacred technology of the Dark Age as it had emerged, anointed in sacred oils, from the forges of the Mechanicus. These were events which had been recorded and would never be forgotten. 
There had been revelations too. In fact, those were the very reason why he and his direct superior Explorator Primus Camus-Nero Storm were in the same room two hours and a half before the sun rose again over Hive Athena of Nyx.
“We have to participate in the Pavia Liberation Campaign.”
The commanding officer of the Twelfth Fleet nodded, having not expected any other decision.
“I arrived to the same logical decision, Explorator-Primus. However, I must admit I have my reservations at our best lead on the Quest For Knowledge being an abominable thieving-xenos.”
“The Omnissiah and its servants will punish this odious creature in due time.” The personal envoy of the Fabricator-General replied while agitating his mechadendrites in irritation. “No matter the outcome, we must go to Pavia. If the ‘Necron’ says the truth, if it truly knows where we can find more semi-intact STC databases, Blessed Mars must recover them. We hardly can let other Forge Worlds take the lead in this Quest. If the xenos is lying, we will use the gathered fleet to punish it and extract from its abominable skull the secrets of the green-lit technology they have showed in the Battle of the Death Star.”
The Explorator-Primus did not voice aloud that the Moirae Schism had severely wounded the Adeptus Mechanicus in a time of secession and uncertainty, but Gastaph heard it nonetheless.
“The Fabricator-General’s orders were asking for Twelfth Fleet to return to Mars in triumph with the STC database. Do you wish to propose amendments to them?”
Camus-Nero Storm canted a negative song through the Noosphere.
“I do not. While I admit I am tempted to participate myself to this Quest, the Fabricator-General’s command must not be countermanded lightly, and we need this STC database in security in the Temple of All Knowledge next year and our Artisans exploiting the marvels of sacred technology. Thanks to this cretin-ignoramus of Syracuse-M-Lambda-9999, dozens of template-copies must have already reached Forge Worlds in Ultima Segmentum and beyond. We need the sacred knowledge if we do not wish to be outperformed and out-produced by Ryza, Phaeton, Gryphonne IV and other vassal Forges.”
The anger when the name of the Magos was uttered was not feigned, and Gastaph Hediatrix did not say a word in his defence. True, Syracuse-M-Lambda-9999 had been playing into a diplomatic, technologic and military minefield with no forces of its own to enforce the Martian edicts, but the Magos had chosen on his own to impose his name to the other Explorators of Mars already present in-Sector.
It went without saying that his stupidity had made sure he would never be promoted further in the hierarchy of the Adeptus Mechanicus. When Twelfth Fleet began its long journey back to Mars, Syracuse-M-Lambda-9999 would be aboard the El Dorado. And unless Gastaph had misunderstood the promises of the Explorator-Primus, the Magos would be detached to the exploration teams of the Librarius Omnis as soon as they reached their home. 
The designs of the Omnissiah were mysterious, and maybe Syracuse-M-Lambda-9999 would be one of the few hundred survivors who managed to escape the ancient defences, automatons and firewalls randomly attacking the Explorator companies.
“Besides,” Camus-Nero Storm continued, “I have one hundred percent certainty the politicians of Holy Terra are screaming at this very moment because the Fabricator-General dared sending away one of the great Battlefleets defending Sol without demanding their opinion.”
Both high-ranked Mechanicus Priests exchanged a glance of disgust. It was indeed something the member of the Senatorum Imperialis would say. And if by a miracle of the Omnissiah they didn’t voice it, they had millions of useless subordinates to scream in their stead.
It was utter non-sense, of course. If the stellar system had not been named Sol, it was true the departure of Twelfth Fleet – four Arks Mechanicus, twelve Battleships, twenty-four first-rank Cruisers and ninety-six less escorts – would have represented an unbearable loss of firepower. But this was the Sol System, and there were thousands of warships still defending Holy Terra and Blessed Mars. And it was not counting the millions of fixed defences, the secret programs everyone knew stood ready to stop a potential Arch-Traitor or an Arch-Heretek...
“This is an unprecedented situation,” the Explorator-Primus canted. “And yet we will have to act fast. If you agree with it, I will propose to the Fabricator-General for you to be transferred from the Twelfth Fleet to the Twenty-Fourth.”
“I was not aware we had a Twenty-Fourth Fleet,” Gastaph answered carefully.
“Until two minutes ago, we hadn’t.”
Oh. It reassured him his memory had not forgotten something important, at least.
“I apologise at the risk of sounding blunt and illogical Explorator-Primus, but why should I accept the command of a fleet which is no doubt going to be a Noosphere Titan and in reality barely stronger than a weak Explorator Fleet? Once we will return the STC to Mars, we will be heroes and acclaimed by the other Archmagi, our names forever enshrined on the forge-altars of Olympus Mons. Stepping down from Twelfth Fleet would already be a significant demotion, but taking command of a non-existent fleet...”
He must have made his point pretty much clear, because Camus-Nero Storm was far more conciliatory a few seconds after his cant.
“I did not wish you to go with a non-existent fleet! You would have your Ark Mechanicus the El Dorado, supported by two other battleships from Twelfth Fleet, the Emperor-class Cerberus Engine, and the Apocalypse-class Furnace of the Machine. It would also have a squadron of twelve first-class battle-line cruisers.”
It was better than a non-existent fleet, true, but it was still a significant decrease of firepower. Something of his thoughts must have filtered on the Noosphere, because his superior continued in a more frenetic cant.
“You will be of course generously compensated for your efforts away from Blessed Mars. Since Syracuse-M-Lambda-9999 has no longer his place here, a seat is open to this ‘Mechanicus Council’ of Nyx, and it is yours if you want it. The Omnissiah knows we need a reliable Voice of Mars by the Chosen’s side. You will have a decree from the Fabricator-General placing you in overall command of all Mechanicus forces participating in the Pavia Liberation Campaign. And obviously you will be granted recruiting rights for the time period before the military campaign’s start.”
“It is enticing,” he conceded. Arguing the contrary to his superior would have been insulting, to be honest. “But you know like I do that my ability to gather large numbers of Magi depends on the potential gains this campaign can offer them...”
The majority of his muster had to be done at Mars; every ship waiting for his return at Nyx would be theoretically under his command, but they would not be trained to Mars standards and have other allegiances.
“In this instance, I can’t give assurances at this hour. We need first to negotiate with the Chosen-Basileia. I think the classic mining acquisition rights and template analyses will be granted, but negotiations will need to be done, and treaties will have to be signed.”
The cant-discussion shifted from the military preparations to more normal – and political – concerns.
“Cog and sacred oils, I would have preferred the Holy STC to be found in a Sector where the Ecclesiarchy was less powerful.”
“It could have been worse, Explorator-Primus. The nearby Sector, Atlantis I believe, has armies and fleets answering to the Ecclesiarchy. Nyx has a few planets governed by the ignorant and tech-less priests, but it is hardly under their rule.”
“Give firm orders to the representative you will choose to represent you until your return.”  Camus-Nero Storm showed an impression the Archmagos Prime interpreted as a grimace. “Omnissiah’s blessings, how I wished we had a Forge World of our own to bolster our influence and spread the glory and the teachings of the Machine-God in this Sector.”
Gastaph Hediatrix shared somewhat the deception of his superior, but in a way it made things easier. A Nyx Forge World, so far from Mars, would have trained and attracted Tech-Priests and Magi with levels of independence similar to those of Triplex-Phall or Zhao-Arkkad. Obviously, they may not have relinquished the STC database without Twelfth Fleet being forced to use its cannons.
It was simulations and hypotheses, clearly. The sole Forge World which had existed was a ruin quarantined by the Inquisition, and it was going to take centuries or millennia before it was resettled. 
“I will do my best, but unless the Fabricator-General wishes to amend my list, the gifts we have in our hulls will not allow us to purchase a planet. And the Nyx Sector as a whole has not the will to build a Forge World for Mars, if the Noosphere records are true.”
As much as it galled him to admit it, the highest-ranking Tech-Priests on Nyx were probably right too. The Nyx System had a lot of potential, and as long as Lady Weaver, Basileia of Nyx, was its Governor in the name of the Omnissiah-Emperor, it had all the strengths of a Forge World and few of the drawbacks – they were limited to paying the usual of a Hive World.
“Now for the next major issue. It is vital we manage to buy one of these ‘Dragon Armours’ that have recently begun production. Agripinaa and several other Forge Worlds of Obscurus never stop complaining about the inferiority of our flyers against the Heldrakes.”
The cant of the Explorator-Primus turned sardonic.
“I prefer this more conventional solution against the wonder-weapon Cawl had proposed the Parliament twenty standard years ago.”
Ah yes, this incident had provoked a lot of technological quarrels and doctrine feuds in Mars and the Forge Worlds of the Inner Core. Thanks the Omnissiah, Archmagos Dominus Belisarius Cawl had then left Blessed Mars for a Quest in Segmentum Pacificus with two Arks Mechanicus and five battleships, and the tensions had decreased with his departure. A travel he had not for the moment returned from, and prayers were canted ten thousand times per day at Olympus Mons for this state of affairs to continue. Gastaph Hediatrix had a momentary moment of panic seeing one of his battleships in orbit of Nyx, but it appeared the Basileia had purchased one from the Quayran shipyards where Cawl had operated decades ago. What a relief. 
“I think the Fabricator-General will be devastated by Cawl’s disappointment,” the commander of Twelfth Fleet replied humorously. Like dozens of Tech-Priests chosen to ascend to the highest ranking duty of the Adeptus Mechanicus, Fabricator-General Xaerophrys Esvikom had to repeal the legal and technological challenges from Cawl and his supporters. 
The Radical Archmagos was not doing it every time a new Fabricator-General had to be chosen, but he had done it for centuries and it had almost become a tradition to see if the Dominus Dominatus was going to leave his vaults or come back from another successful technology-quest in time to demand the title of Magos Mechanicus. 
“Quite. Cawl aside, I think the Amphitrite hydro-plant is also something we will need to assimilate in priority for our most valuable and defended outposts...”

Basileia Taylor Hebert

It had taken her a long time to admit it deep inside, but there was such a thing as too many gifts.
The Sanguinala had brought enough presents to occupy quite a few buildings, warehouses and places, and Governor’s Day had not helped at all. And now even the Mechanicus was joining in, though at least for them it was a reward for the discovery of the STC Athena database and them carrying it away to Mars.
On the other hand, the Mechanicus’ offerings were...massive. How big? The answer began with 13.5 metres in length and 6.3 metres of height, and ended with 316 tonnes of weight. It was a super-heavy vehicle freshly painted in red and gold every tank commander dreamed to drive.
On its right flank in bright gold letters the name Machine’s Loyalty was written in an elegant Gothic style.
It was a Baneblade Super-Heavy Tank, Mars Alpha-Alpha-Sigma Pattern. 
“If I understood correctly half of Lankovar and Archmagos Hediatrix explained to me, it’s a specialised command version the Forge-Masters of Mars often ‘gift’ to particularly renowned Lord Militants and Crusade commanders where valuable archeotech had been rediscovered,” Taylor said to Gavreel and Gamaliel, who were examining with her the formidable war machine.
The fact this was just the opening gift while Lord Generals and far higher officers than her had often to beg the Mechanicus on their knees for one was a hint how valuable the Explorator-Primus and his second considered the STC database.
“It’s a beautiful tank,” the black-armoured Astartes acknowledged. 
“I’m more impressed by the command post and the communications-suite,” the Herald of Sanguinius commented. “The interior layout of the Land Raider is slightly superior, but the technology employed by Mars to build this super-heavy machine more than compensates.”
“So I can use it safely as a command vehicle?”  
“Unless you want something bigger, like a Titan...” the Blood Angel laughed.
The insect-mistress rolled her eyes before shaking her head. It was not like the Baneblade was a small and minor engine of war. Something bigger would also be slower and more cumbersome.
“We will accept this gift.” She had of course to repeat several times to the hundreds of Tech-Priests and Magi as they descended the platform where the Baneblade was exhibited for the greater pleasure of tank-addicts, a group which obviously included all the Techmarines of her Dawnbreaker Guard. 
Despite seeing it well before the two Astartes, she wasn’t able to identify immediately the curious devices the Mechanicus had moved on the second platform-podium.
“Gavreel, do you know what this object does?”
“I think it is a teleportarium,” Gamaliel intervened as they approached the strange circular device. “I am not familiar with the pattern, but the slight odour of ozone is familiar.”
“Indeed,” Archmagos Prime Gastaph Hediatrix abandoned his conversation with another Magos and turned around to face her little group. “It is one of the last teleportariums from the Lightning-Pattern Mars forged in 420M31.”
M31. Since it was that old, this meant its value was between ‘priceless’ and ‘how many planets do you want to buy in exchange of one?’
After receiving the technical information – it could apparently teleport fifty-plus Space Marines or the double of that number in human bodies at the same time – they followed the Martian Archmagos to the third platform.
It was easier to say what the third present was. They were large, but these were clearly traditional books protected by several stasis fields. Although ‘a collection of books’ would be more accurate, they were over thirty of them.
“This is a 029M32 copy of the Codex Astartes written by the esteemed Primarch Roboute Guilliman, and several tactical and strategic works of past Imperial Fists’ Successor Chapters the Adeptus Mechanicus has gathered in past centuries.”
She took a step forwards.
“I have heard of the Codex Astartes. But I was not expecting the paper-format to be so...big.”
“Only these four books are the Codex as the Primarch wrote it,” the Archmagos Prime pointed out four works, which naturally were the biggest of the collection. They had to be approximately one metre long and a quarter of a metre thick. “The rest are several Chapter Masters’ treaties and later additions demanded by exceptional circumstances.”
Taylor tried very hard not to grimace. The Primarchs were venerated like demi-gods in the Imperium of the 35th millennium. Of course, plenty of Space Marines were against this worship, but still the words of a Primarch were considered higher than most sermons and prayers. Analyses and treatises on them were normal. ‘Additions demanded by exceptional circumstances’ was tantamount to say there had been wars where the Codex Astartes and the valour of the Adeptus Astartes had not been enough to turn the tide of a conflict.
“I accept this generous gift,” she was certainly not going to read it in one or ten days, but having the support all Chapters were in theory supposed to conform to could not hurt, given how many Space Marines were already based in the Nyx System.
The insect mistress made a small sign of hand to her Astartes escort to withdraw to the edge of the platform. It was more for show than not be overheard; the Space Marines had the capabilities to hear a lot of things while you were certain they were out of earring’s range.
“As your kind gift is speaking of Space Marines, I wondered if I could speak with you about the subject of Techmarines too.”
“Most certainly, Lady Basileia,” Gastaph Hediatrix replied very politely. “Logically, I would have been surprised if you had not done so. Mars trains all the aspirants desiring to learn the teachings of the Omnissiah and the Machine-Spirits, and you have Astartes Chapters in your Sectors whose status is...questionable at best.”
Taylor gave him a thin smile. ‘Questionable’ was an understatement, and they knew it perfectly well. 
For the Iron Drakes, there was no problem. The Chapter had its own accords signed with the Mechanicus and was Codex-compliant, whatever conditions it implied. The Dawnbreaker Guard was an Honour Guard and had its Techmarines. It was the two other Chapters which were the problem.
The former Alpha Legionnaires had lost all their Techmarines before the Battle of the Death Star, and given their status oscillating between ‘Renegade’ and ‘Traitor’, they certainly had not been in official contact with the Mechanicus.
“I’m not well-versed on the details,” she admitted, though it was a bit dishonest. She had talked several times with the Techmarines sworn to her about what their duties entailed.
“I will keep the explanations simple, Lady Basileia. The training of an aspirant to become an ordained Techmarine last between thirty and thirty-five standard years. The great data-lore the aspirant Frater Astrotechnicus must understand, commit to memory, and assimilate the lore of the Machine God. Then they must prove they have mastered the most difficult reparations, maintenance rituals, and healing cant-hymns.”
It was always strange to hear the Mechanicus Magi and Archmagi to speak of science like it was a religion. Unlike Leet though, she wasn’t going to tell to them rudely they were wrong. Besides this galaxy was sufficiently crazy she wasn’t sure at all they were utterly in the wrong.
But the training of the aspirants for more than thirty years explained in part why some Space Marines had contacted her to insist upon the Techmarine training. It was not something which could be solved in a year or two.
“What is the standard contract for an Adeptus Astartes Chapter?”
“There is not a ‘standard contract’ per se,” the Mechanicus representative replied. “As an aspirant swears oaths to his Chapter first and the Mechanicus second, every Chapter has different policies where Techmarines are concerned.” The sound which came out from the metallic mouth was the equivalent of a shrug. “The Iron Hands and their Successors have the highest numbers of aspirants on the Blessed soil of Mars. The First Founding Chapter which provides the lowest numbers is the Salamanders.”
“The Blood Angels?”
“I have not the precise number, but their contract must ask for their strength to be maintained at forty Techmarines permanently.”
“And in exchange?” The Tech-Priests prided themselves on logic, and they were not going to train Space Marines and teach them a lot of technological ‘secrets’ for free.
“We ask for several Forge Worlds to be protected in priority by the Chapter should they come under attack. The representatives of Archmagos rank and above have the privilege to request an audience every century to a Chapter Master. Negotiations can be entered for Honour Guards and the like. There are plenty of existing conditions.”
This was technology and politics mixed to the highest degree, and the worst part was that it didn’t surprise her at all.
“The Heracles Wardens have no more Techmarines, and the Brothers of the Red have only six survivors.” This was for the formalities, Taylor was sure Gastaph Hediatrix had found the information in the Noosphere in less than ten seconds. “Some members of my Honour Guard are helping when their duties do not call them elsewhere, but they are in need of reinforcements. What are your suggestions, Archmagos?”  
“The Heracles Wardens are under Inquisition-enforced restrictions, correct?”
“Correct.”
The Martian Tech-Priest buzzed something unintelligible before speaking in Low Gothic.
“Provided the negotiations in the next days prove successful and said Chapters have worthy aspirants ready to be trained, the Adeptus Mechanicus will be ready to accept ten aspirants per Chapter for their re-introduction in the great service of the Machine God. Given the circumstances, Twelfth Fleet will exceptionally transport them back to Mars. Further acceptance of aspirants will be negotiated point per point with negotiating teams and tech-law experts.”
The Basileia descended the third platform-podium behind Gastaph Hediatrix, allowing her to watch for several seconds with her own eyes the numerous mechadendrites crawling on the back of the Archmagos. Interestingly, while many Magi and Archmagi she had met had metallic appendages which could be qualified as either military or civilians – weapons and data-acquisition for example – the commander of Twelfth Fleet seemed to belong to neither. His dozen artificial mechadendrites appeared to have been built for polyvalent duties, guaranteeing he would not excel in a given situation, but neither would he fail abysmally.
It was uncommon, and given how every Mechanicus Tech-Priest was forged by his experiences, the Lady of Nyx was a bit curious how Hediatrix had arrived to this sort of tech-philosophy.
The presentation of the gifts continued. For the fourth one, the Explorator Primus and his staff were present in person, taking a brief respite from the negotiations with her Council, and presented to her an Oath of Assistance. Like the name implied, she could call the assistance of the Mechanicus of Mars should their help be required, be it military, economic or diplomatic, and in the name of the Fabricator-General the Tech-Priests would be oath-bound to answer it, three times per century.
The fifth was gift was more something for the Heracles Warden than her; it was called an Android XL-15-GX, a relatively recent and technologically advanced encryption and deciphering machine. 
The sixth was far more useful for her. It was a Termite Burrowing Vehicle, the Tactical Burrower. Her expression must have betrayed her intentions and the combinations she played with her insects, because her Honour Guard had worried expressions on their faces.
It was followed by a Kastelan-X10 Robot, the 03-Maccabeus, and a relic of the Great Crusade, the Rapier Laser Destroyer Golden Slayer. And if anyone wondered, yes the Tech-Priests had painted it in gold before landing on Nyx. 
The next presents were more interesting for Dragon and the Mechanicus of Nyx. The Macrocarid Explorator Heavy Vehicle Sandwalker was something Lankovar might appreciate for his travels. The Atomantic Shield Generator was something a Tinker would love to analyse.
The eleventh gift was small, no bigger than her hand. But the template-copy was insanely valuable, for it contained the schematics of the Volkite Caliver, and if the Dawnbreaker Guards thought she had not seen their mischievous glances, they were wrong.
As for the twelfth boon granted by Mars...
“It is my greatest pleasure,” Explorator Primus Camus-Nero Storm was back, and his voice boomed without effort over the cants of the Mechanicus assembly, “to reward Lady Taylor Hebert, Basileia of Nyx, Saint of the Omnissiah-Emperor, a Vote.”
The crowd went instantly silent and when the high-ranking Mechanicus representative touched her, he placed a miniscule golden cog on the Angel’s Tear above her heart. That he didn’t touch the Star of Terra said a lot about his dexterity. 
“For your generosity, your valour, and your dedication to the Quest For Knowledge, Fabricator-General Xaerophrys Esvikom grants you one Honorary Vote in the Parliament of Mars.”
Fortunately, the Planetary Governor managed to close her mouth in time before asking if the Explorator-Primus was really serious. Unlike the Senatorum Imperialis of Holy Terra, the Parliament of Mars wasn’t in the habit of inviting non-Mechanicus. Hells, if Arithmancia Sultan had told her the truth, the last ‘Honorary Member’ they had accepted outside their own ranks was the Primarch of the Iron Hands, and he had been dead when the motion passed.
The other ‘Honorary figure’ was the Emperor, and it was more because the Mechanicus considered Him the Omnissiah.
“I...I humbly accept.”
Evidently, one vote was not that much – there were about four hundred and fifty thousand votes overall – but the deed was...well, not unprecedented but surely extremely rare. 
“May the Machine God illuminates your path and the Machine-Spirits leads you on more successful Quests.”
“Ave Imperator!”
And once again, she had tens of thousands of red robes bowing profusely to her.

Ultima Segmentum
Nyx Sector
Neptunia Reach Sub-Sector
Nyx System
Ramilies Starfort Angel’s Brotherhood
7.899.290M35
Chapter Master Agiel Izaz

Viewed from the main observation bay, it was a spectacle you didn’t see every day.
The four Arks Mechanicus lit their engines at the same instant, creating a pyrotechnic picture of martial projection and unfailing order.
They were great and mighty, these Arks. Each one was at least twelve kilometres-long, surpassing the battleship Enterprise despite its impressive dimensions, and in each of their hulls, the Mechanicus had poured projects and blueprints so valuable that each Shipmaster nomination was the result of centuries-old elimination processes.
Twelve seconds later, twelve battleships, twenty four cruisers and ninety-six escorts imitated their larger cousins. In a minute, it was like the Emperor had decided to bring a thousand new comets in the system of Nyx.
“Here they go,” the Chapter Master of the Brothers of the Red said aloud. “They didn’t stay long, these prestigious visitors.”
“They will come back in five years,” answered the Basileia, taking a sip of her tea cup before replying. “Some of them, anyway. And while Twelfth Fleet has only stayed in orbit of Nyx Tertius for fifty standard days, there are plenty of Martian Magi and Archmagi who have remained behind. The negotiators, the explorators, and the Biologis experts have added their numbers to the growing Nyx Mechanicus.”
Unlike him, the young woman had remained seated on her chair next to watch Mars’ fleet leaving. This was not due to a lack of fascination or rudeness, but rather exhaustion: four hours ago, the Dawnbreaker Guard and she had used the brand-new training facilities of the Angel’s Brotherhood for a particularly harsh session of physical conditioning. Although it wasn’t exactly visible from the appearance she was presenting to the outside world. But then, her red void-armour and a red cloak hid most of her body today.
“Yes, I was told many negotiations were continuing even as the Explorator-Primus and the Archmagos Prime made their preparations to leave Nyx.”
The Sector Lady finished drinking from her cup of tea, her eyes not wavering away from the massive Mechanicus fleet slipping away into the void.
“I have unfortunately become aware that in politics, negotiations take a long, long time. And between the ceremonies and all the first-class issues we had to deal with, no I am not surprised the negotiations have not ended in fifty days.”
Agiel Izaz watched away for a second or two as the young woman who was the sole other presence in the bay - aside from the Dawnbreaker Guard, of course – approached again with a new silver platter with refreshments and delivered a kiss on the lips of the Basileia. 
“I understand you want to increase the difficulty of your Recruitment Trials for the next Sanguinala,” the Lady Nyx declared after emptying a new cup of tea.
“I do. Last year brought a generation of exceptional candidates, but to say the truth, we were pressed by time and we were forced to adapt and forego certain tests. This year, I would prefer to organise ten days of trials and competitions, the last day being of course the Day of Valour.”
“Hum.” As usual when Lady Taylor Hebert was speaking of very serious matters, it was difficult to guess what she was thinking. “I presume you have something of a plan to propose?”
“Yes,” he handed her a data-chip and let her read for the next fifteen minutes. The Basileia was a fast reader for a non-Astartes, but even she needed time to peruse all the propositions.
“Your new plan sounds coherent, though I pity the poor teenagers who will try these trials. I don’t think we subject the adult recruits of the Guard to one-third of this hell-training.” Lady Weaver said as her eyes once more rose from the lecture of his plan. “You have my approval. Check it with security and the Biologis teams of last year. You want worthy aspirants ultimately, not broken bodies.”
“It will be done.”
“Speaking of worthy aspirants, how many aspirants have you been able to keep from last year?”
“We have one hundred and seventy-four aspirants left from the previous Sanguinala. It is better by ten percent of our most optimistic predictions; the absence of the Black Rage and the support of the gene-labs of the Mechanicus have really done the implantation processes more efficient and less risky. Five days ago, all of them had passed Phase 6 and the implantation of the Catalepsean Node. The hypnotherapy and the advanced tactical training sessions have begun. It is not a stone-carved deadline, but I think in three years the first Brothers of the Red born from Nyx will be ready to be armed.”
This time a brief smile of pride lit her visage. This warmed his two hearts, for while there were officially of equivalent ranks, Agiel Izaz knew what he had been given by the Basileia of Nyx, and it included by the gigantic Ramilies Starfort they were currently calmly occupying.
“I see. Congratulations are in order, then.” The Lady Nyx diverted once again her attention to the stars. “When you have a firm number on the aspirants of the first Nyx-born generation who will be elevated as Scouts of your 10th Company, please warn me. I will arrange a visit of the Athena Armoury for everyone.”
“We have a surplus of battle-armours, my Lady.”
The Basileia made a fake-snobbish expression which would have almost made an inbred aristocrat proud.
“It will not be said the Basileia is stingy and avaricious!” After a few instants of chuckling, the parahuman became more serious. “Besides, the Artisans in my service have already produced 145 Mark VII Astartes Armour. I must know if they have done a good job with the funds and the resources allocated to them.”
Agiel heavily suspected they had. The Mechanicus was very fond of her, and the golden cog on her chest was an evident sign of the favour of Mars. As long as she was reasonable, the Tech-Priests were not going to cause her trouble.
And besides, he was not going to refuse brand-new power armours. He had a surplus of them in the Chapter’s armoury, that much was true, but all of them were more than two hundred years old, and plenty were in dire need of spare parts and dozens had already given to Mechanicus Artisans for heavy maintenance and reparations. 
“We have also ten of our most technologically-inclined aspirants to Mars, as I’m sure you are aware. I am still debating with my officers how many we will accept in the end...”
“Go for the maximum,” Lady Weaver advised, noticing his very short expression of surprise. “Yes, I read Chapter 73 pertaining to the Techmarines’ rules. Guilliman authorised up to one hundred Techmarines in a single Chapter. I say try to reach the maximum number of Techmarines allowed in a Chapter.”
“It is not that simple, my Lady. There are...political concerns as well. Battle-brothers who are trained on Mars have divided loyalties. And a different temperament than other aspirants recently recognised as full-fledged battle-brothers. They tend to gain several Mechanicus traits like lack of emotions and brotherhood...”
His interlocutor dismissed the objection with a wave of her hand and a cup of tea.
“Then return them on the proper path.” He was told in a tone that was more implacable than a blade. “They are your brothers, and Isley told me that for all its faults, the Alpha Legion of old tried to reintegrate the Techmarines it received back with long training sessions on the emotional side of things. Try it. I believe it will make your Chapter stronger in the long-term.”
“I have a last objection, if you will allow me.”
The smile and the nod accompanied were granted immediately.
“The quota of one hundred Techmarines – and Apothecaries, if we want to boost their numbers too – was written black on write in the original Codex Astartes written by the Primarch of the Ultramarines. But there have been...amendments suggested by the High Lords of Terra since. I think the Carey Prerogative of 189M33 comes to mind. The august Masters of the Senatorum Imperialis don’t like it very much when a chapter tries to go way over the thousand Astartes-mark.”
The reaction of the Basileia limited itself to one eyebrow rising and a twisting of her lips.
“How kind of them. But there’s an ancient saying of Earth which has survived the millennia. Dura lex, sed lex. The words of the Primarch have not been rescinded. Therefore they are the law.”
Agiel Izaz was impressed by the justification the young woman had found. Quoting one of the favourite slogans in High Gothic of the Adeptus Arbites to deny a Prerogative of the Senatorum Imperialis – and one which had been promoted by the Adeptus Administratum, if his memory didn’t fail him – was the kind of argument which made you either a legend or a traitor. 
“Many important men will not thank you for voicing this argument and supporting the Adeptus Astartes as a whole...”
She did not let him continue his plea.
“I have other reasons. Some of them are more selfish and do not include your Chapter.”
It was not hard to see where she was going.
“If we are already increasing our Techmarine and Apothecary quotas, it will be harder to deny it to the Heracles Wardens when their own restrictions will be lifted.”
The Basileia didn’t open her mouth to tell him he was wrong.
“The core of the idea was Dragon’s.” The parahuman revealed. “She thinks that for the elite force the Space Marines are supposed to be, your technological and medical strength is critically under-strength. And I agree.”
“It is not that bad...”
The young woman snickered and looked at him like he had made an excellent joke.
“Chapter Master Agiel Izaz, half a percent of the Nyxian population are serving me in a military job, and it takes over twenty percent of said population to give them the equipment, the ammunition and the supplies they must have to reach a battlefield and have a chance of victory. I have read thirty Chapters of the Codex Astartes, and I can tell already the minimum figures and the warning hints the Primarch Guilliman wrote over four thousand years ago have been deliberately ignored. When a Primarch speaks of minimal numbers, these are minimal numbers, not nominal or maximal. Low Gothic is not that complicated to learn.”
Yes, it was a common reaction for the non-Astartes who bothered to begin word-per-word the writings of the Thirteenth Legion.
“We are the shield and the sword of the Emperor, we are not His judges.” They were not created to fight the political battles of the Imperium. They had seen very well what happened when Astartes tried it: Terra in ruins and the Imperium on the edge of annihilation. “When the High Lords of terra speak of a single voice, we must obey.”
If only because century after century, the High Lords had collared some evil and vicious dogs to kill those who didn’t.
“It’s a sad state of affairs.” He wasn’t going to disagree with that. Knowing likely how sensitive the subject was, Lady Weaver changed it. “Your quartermaster told me you were interested by the acquisition of two Gladius-class frigates?”
“Yes, while our Strike Cruisers are perfect for the transport of a Company, there are times where their presence on a battlefield is a waste of firepower which will be missed on another. Unfortunately, our lighter units had to be scrapped or were lost during our Penance Crusade.”
“I will have to consult to Archmagos Sultan tomorrow but it seems to me...”
Astartes had no mind for the administrative duties and war-plan programs, but fortunately, they had found people who were really, really good at it.

Sergeant Gavreel Forcas

Triplex Phall had agreed to sell a Ramilies Starfort in exchange of a STC template-copy, and they had done their upmost to deliver a state of the art fortress. 
Gavreel had seen cities floating in space in the past, but they were paltry flies compared to the size and the splendour of a Ramilies. That the Brothers of the Red had already begun to mark their territory with splendid statues, paintings and tapestries didn’t hurt.
Tiny drawback, the very size of the Angel’s Brotherhood required a great deal of manpower. So at the moment, they were Tech-Priests and non-Tech-Priests running everywhere to accommodate it to the taste and the noble purpose of an Astartes Chapter’s headquarters.
“Once the Mars fleet will have made its Warp-Transition and Chapter Master Izaz will be satisfied by the progression of the works, the Starfort will be towed in orbit of Ruby’s Harvest.”
“Some would say it is a strange choice,” Jeremiah Isley told him as they made an inspection of the lower levels of the Angel’s Brotherhood. 
Gavreel shrugged in return.
“I was not involved in the decision, but I was told the reasoning and I agree with it. Nyx itself is constantly updating its defences since our arrival, and a Starfort in the middle of these changes is more a hindrance than a boon. The less recent fortresses are moved to Luke’s Mine. The Mining World deserves some defences, but as the Basileia owns more and more mining exploitation rights outside this system, it is not as vital as it was in the past. Nyx Quintus, Saint Clare’s Stand, is not under our responsibility to defend, not until the Cardinal agrees to rescind its status of Ecclesiarchy planet. And Blue Anchorage of course is a Navy base. Moving a Ramilies Starfort there would be tantamount to admit we don’t trust the blue-collared officers in charge.”
Obviously, there were many tensions between the Imperial Navy and the government of Nyx, but there was really no need to inflame them for a more than questionable strategic action.
“The Starfort will orbit Ruby’s Harvest. It will reassure its inhabitants and prove them Nyx values their existence and their work. It will reassure people that the independence of the Adeptus Astartes is not at risk.” Appearances in politics were sometimes more useful than the truth. “And it will multiply by ten the firepower this world has to defend itself. The previous Governor really left this world as defenceless as he could.”
It was a mistake so grave Gavreel would have gladly demanded to be part of the firing squads charged to execute the imbeciles who had taken these idiotic decisions. Ruby’s Harvest and its two moons, even after the latest effort of Lady Taylor Hebert, were still by large the major supplier of food supplies the Hive World of Nyx used on day-per-day basis. The capital world had just too many people, was too much polluted, and had not enough time under the new administration to change this state of affairs. Therefore it was not hard to argue that if a smart enemy invaded the Nyx System, he wouldn’t strike first the Navy shipyards or try to break the growing lethal grid of Nyx. No, the enemy would attack Ruby’s Harvest first and starve the populations of the other planets, trying to bring a social collapse before a military one.
“I understand the logic,” replied a bit too stiffly the former Harrowmaster. “But in my opinion, Ruby’s Harvest is well-covered by the Mechanicus stations between Quartus and Quintus, and if a potential enemy truly wants to starve us, it is not that complicated to burn a world.”
“It is your opinion, Chapter Master,” he said as they visited several hangars where brand-new machines and Mechanicus devices were brought in, escorted by dozens of Skitarii. “But I don’t think our Lady shares it. Or if she shares it, it’s likely she think that right now there’s nothing we could do. In the end, given the resources and the funds we have currently access to, there isn’t a lot we can do against an enemy which would bring a fleet like the Martian Twelfth to the battlefield. The Enterprise is just one battleship, and Battlefleet Nyx has only conducted its first post-war war game eleven days ago.” 
“And what is her opinion on the Codex Astartes?” If a Space Marine could show anxiety, the Chapter Master of the Heracles Wardens would have been a nice example.
Ultimately, Gavreel could not resist taunting him.
“The Lady Nyx is of the opinion Lord Guilliman’s books are a masterwork of organisation, military law and tactical recommendations.”
The blue-red Space Marine growled in annoyance.
Estimating the punishment had lasted long enough, Gavreel adopted a more serious tone.
“There’s no denying that fact, cousin. That said, while it is a fine work, Lady Weaver thinks, and I share her perspective, that the Codex Astartes is at the same time a great source of strength and a fatal weakness. The Legions badly needed rule after the Heresy, and as the Primarchs disappeared one after another, the guidance of the Codex was both a source of stability and prevented any ambitious Chapter Master from increasing his numbers out of proportion without entering in rebellion.”
“There are the Black Templars,” Isley countered.
“From what the Brothers of the Red and the Dawnbreaker Guard have to say, the zealot-crusaders rarely fight in formations stronger than four or five companies. They are in effect more like a dozen Chapters with the same colours and the same...beliefs.”
This was against the rules, but since no one had dared voiced a complaint to the High Lords, Gavreel wasn’t going to be the one to raise his voice in protestation as long as the Black Templars protected humanity.
“The general order of the day is not to refuse to adhere to the Codex. We are on the contrary going to enforce certain of Guilliman’s writings which shouldn’t have been discarded like they were. It is the Basileia’s intention that by the end of the century there will be a cadre of Apothecaries and Techmarines brought to post-Scouring strength.”
“And the Apothecaries’ aspirants will be recruited via all these clinics and hospitals Lady Nyx has invested into?”
Whatever could be said about the gene-line of the Twentieth Legion, they were certainly not stupid or unobservant.
“Yes, though all are genuine health-restoring facilities. I think the Ecclesiarchy has formally created a similar order of sisters to fulfil the same goals on Saint Clare’s Stand.”
“It is human’s nature to exploit popular moves.” And if that wasn’t a cynical answer, the former Dark Angel didn’t know what it was. 
“It isn’t that bad. They are trying to ‘lease’ Lady Weaver’s prestige, but since their aren’t technically under her rule and most senior Priests refuse to spend proportionally a quarter of the health budget Nyx does, their policy will look self-serving, and there are plenty of people who travel every year between the two planets. Was there anything you wanted to ask?”
“There is a rumour a new armament program is in the works...”
“Consider it confirmed. Lady Dragon has closed two obsolete manufactorums last week. For some reason, the factory owners were selling third-rate boots to the black market and at the same time were busy pretending their production lines were down for extensive maintenance. They have been arrested by the Arbites, and now their assets are seized. It will take a couple of months, but the two reorganised manufactorums will mass-produce the template of Volkite Caliver we obtained from Mars. Over seventy percent will be destined to the Astartes Chapters of the Sector, since we are the only warriors able to use one without injury. The rest will go to equip some specific armoured vehicles, I suppose.”
“And the new jump packs?”
“The Magi and Archmagi have met more problems in their attempts to boost it. Our ancestors had not Space Marines in mind when they were building their best tools, and while the comprehension of the Mechanicus increases, they are discovering new things every day...”


Ultima Segmentum
Nyx Sector
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7.920.290M35
Minister of Justice Missy Byron

The government of Nyx, like a lot of things, had considerably expanded in the last year. Long gone was the time when the parahumans were monopolising the seats. Missy didn’t regret it. A Hive World was running on an ocean of bureaucracy and ridiculous procedures, and the more sworn-in personnel to deal with it, the better in her opinion. Officially and unofficially, there were eighteen people who had the right to sit at the Ministerial title with Taylor Hebert, counting Ministers, Secretaries, Masters and Directors.
In a few seconds, there would be seventeen.
“I want my Ministers to project an image of competence and reliability, Mr. Byzas Polios,” the insect-mistress declared in the icy voice she used when someone had screwed up by the numbers. “Arriving drunk at a meeting with a representative of Lionheart is not what I pay you for. Effective immediately, you are fired.”
The blonde-haired man had entered the room wearing a nice black suit and a regretful expression on his face. He was of average height, but had a large nose and a long beard.
Now he bowed largely, not going so far as to bend the knee in front of Taylor, but still an imploring behaviour.
“Please, Lady Basileia. I humbly ask from you a second chance.”
“This was your second chance,” the Planetary Governor of Nyx retorted bluntly. “I gave you a second chance when you failed to welcome an important envoy from the Atlantis Sector. No doubt you were busy drinking every bottle of amasec in your reserves while your subordinates were doing your job in your name.”
“My Lady!” The soon to be ex-Minister exclaimed.
“What? If you had a professional bone in your body, you would never have dared showing up in public like you did. You are very, very lucky the Lionheart emissary has a sense of humour and was ready to...ignore your deplorable behaviour. Your performance of the last month is completely unsuitable for one of my Ministers.”
“I have...alcohol issues, I admit it. But I am going to follow a cure. I will get better.”
His imploring face turned to the rest of the assembly, but it was not a lucky day for him. Not counting herself, only three members of the government were here today. It was not exceptional; all the Ministers worked like fanatics to prove they deserved the confidence Weaver had invested in them, and the Nyx System was a very big place.
The Controller General of Finances, Valentin Seignelas, Baron of Seignelas-Essex, glanced at Byzas Polios and showed only disgust. With his impeccable clothes and wig, it had likely never occurred to the noble to commit the major faux-pas of arriving drunk at a diplomatic meeting.
Theodore Kaplan, former Head-Director of Manufactorum Sextant-Omega and now Intendant of Economic Affairs, was giving a more friendly expression, but it was more a ‘you failed, you must assume the consequences’ look. 
As for Serge Halieus, the small but extremely muscular Master of Agriculture, he barked a laugh before whispering something under his breath about drunkards and promises.
“Perhaps. But it only incites me to not keep you in my service. If you are in need of healing, you aren’t able to successfully complete your duties. By courtesy of the good work you did in the first couple of months, I will pay one tenth of your income for the next year. If you are really willing to fight against your alcohol addiction, you will do what is necessary.”
Judging by the fury burning in his eyes, Missy was less than convinced he was going to do that. Internally, she sighed. As much as she didn’t like it, she was going to have to send a few Investigators to see that the blonde man did not do something stupid.
Byzas Polios bowed and then was escorted away by a Space Marine of the Dawnbreaker Guard. And so the fifth Minister of the Foreign Affairs in two years was dismissed in disgrace.
“Forgive me for stating the obvious, Lady Basileia...” Theodore Kaplan began, “but with the Sanguinala so close, a new Minister of Affairs will have to be rapidly chosen.”
“I know,” the black-gold haired parahuman answered in a more conversational tone. “I have some ideas to replace him, but no outstanding candidate in mind. If you have one, send me a memo, I am open to suggestions.”
It was definitely a first, though admittedly the Foreign Affairs were a special case. In most domains, be they mining, agriculture, industry or the navy, removing the nobles from their positions of power had led to major improvements. But when you were the Minister of the Foreign Affairs, you had to deal with nobles, and not the ‘hear their ridiculous stories why they were not guilty’ like in her case.
“But that can wait until tomorrow. Have the rioting gangs of Underhive Romulus been dealt with, Missy?”
“They have,” she answered before grimacing. “But they were frankly more equipped with PDF weapons than we thought. We had to bring a full battalion of Arbites and two regiments of PDF to fully suppress them, and the damage was extensive. I have already transmitted the preliminary reports to the Tech-Priests and the hive-experts, they will in all likelihood have a full sum-up of the situation by week’s end. On a different but related note, I have new drug regulations to suggest.”
The riot had begun because a few gang leaders had thought it was smart to import some new exotic drug from off-world. It wasn’t, and not just because three injections of this substance were one hundred percent guaranteed to kill you.
“I will contact Yann Scipio to inform him the laws on drugs and forbidden substances must be revised...again.” Missy nodded. Yann Scipio, former lawyer and new Master of Laws, had the difficult duty of exploring the mess that the Menelaus dynasty had left where laws were concerned and to create a Code from the half-disastrous mumblings of lazy nobles. At first, it was her Ministry who had supervised the work, but five months ago the Council had decided unanimously to create a new position to rectify this problem. There were only so many hours during a single day, and the precedents and the intricacies of certain Nyxian laws were utterly incomprehensible to her. “Let’s hope that with the new laws on weapons’ ownership and our stamping on corruption and venality in the Planetary Defence Force, this incident will not have a repeat this year.”
Finally, the former supervillain more or less everyone in the Nyx System considered a Saint marched to her seat.
“Now that the unscheduled issues are temporarily solved, I think we can go back to the order of the day. Intendant Kaplan, you have the numbers?”
“Yes, my Lady,” the thin dark-skinned man answered. “However I’m afraid we were only able to establish a comprehensive picture on this Hive-Continent. My agents are still at work on the other two, and we will try our utmost to have the results before the end of this year.”
“All right,” Weaver told her subordinate. “Tell me what you have.”
“At the end of 288M35, the real average unemployment rate of Moira was approximately of 27.3%. As ex-Governor Menelaus always favoured his seat of power and three of his dearest friends were on the same continent as him, it is likely this continent was in a better state economically than its two counterparts.”
The Baron chose this moment to intervene.
“Obviously, during that year at least two-thirds of the nobles were not working or if they were, it was in a position the Governor had given them like ‘Grand Master of the Ballroom’ or ‘Seneschal of the Pureblood Guard’. Between the new infrastructure and industrial programs, the 72-working hours and the new hospitals, productivity has never been higher and unemployment is constantly on decline.”
“Indeed. Lady Basileia, we should be able to pass under 23% of unemployment in a few days, and according to our previsions, the industrial plans of Lady Dragon and the rest of the development efforts should decrease it further next year.”
“This is very good news.” The Basileia gave her key finance advisors a satisfied smile. “A decrease of the unemployment rate of over 4% will be regarded as a first promising improvement. How much has the production increased from last year?”
“Only 2.6%, Lady Basileia,” Valentin Seignelas spoke. “But the official numbers of the administration are highly suspicious and the Nyxian industry is right now continuing a great modernisation plan. Ninety percent of the most urgent issues plaguing the trade of Nyx have been resolved one way or another. Growth predictions for next year will likely be around 3.7%, depending on the Mechanicus and the Administratum priorities.”
“And the bad news?”
“My fellow nobles still refuse to acknowledge the unavoidable and begin to do something useful with their lives,” the Baron of Seignelas-Essex admitted. “Some have also begun to conspire against you.”
“Oh dear,” the predatory smiles of Taylor Hebert could be really scary when she wanted. “Dragon is so going to be disappointed she lost our bet...”

Princess-Magister Zoe XIX Attica

The Water Opera had always been considered an oddity among the Nyxian Operas. First of all, and most damning in the eyes of the great nobility, its construction had not been ordered by the Menelaus King of Kings of the time. 
It was against the privileges of the nobility of Nyx, of course. Unfortunately, two hundred and thirty years ago, the woman who had dared challenge Alexandros IV Menelaus that way was not part of the Nyxian nobility. Or to be more accurate, she wasn’t part of it anymore. The Great Duchess Cheshire had lived a life of less than common adventures, and in one of them she had acquired a Warrant of Trade. Combined to her prodigious fortune, this had been enough to build and arm a small flotilla and continue to fund and participate in more outrageous explorations in the Eastern Fringe.
Following one of her many triumphant returns – and according the gossips, to give a lesson to the King of Kings who had once been her lover – Olivia Cheshire had decided to rebuild entirely one-third of Floor 62 on Hive Athena according to her tastes. All the Attica records of the time agreed that the incident had nearly sparked a civil war. Given that the ex-Great Duchess had half of a Battlefleet in orbit and several companies of elite mercenaries in her service, the outcome would have been...interesting, to say the least. It certainly explained why Alexandros IV had unfortunately four days later gone to his bed and never woke up. 
His eldest son Naxos XXIII had succeeded him to the Governorship, and the crisis had been averted. 
The Menelaus Dynasty however had not been willing to forgive and forget. Five years later, mere hours after Lady Olivia Cheshire had departed for another one of her dangerous explorations, Lord Nyx had unofficially made known that every noble who wanted to watch an opera in this unauthorised location could expect a rise of his tithes in the coming months. The few Counts and Dukes who had tried to see if he was bluffing had rapidly been bankrupted and a couple had even been executed.
No doubt it could have gotten ugly and violent when the female Rogue Trader came back. Except...Olivia Cheshire had never come back. Whether it was because she had found another wealthy planet to govern, lost her ship in a battle against insurmountable odds, or another sinister outcome, the Rogue Trader had never returned. And since all her decorations and constructions had cost billions of Throne Gelts across Nyx, it had not been long before her stewards and treasurers were forced to sell one by one her mansions, palaces, and private gardens.
After one hundred years, and despite the written orders of their mistress, the last Cheshire men and women who had stayed to their posts acknowledged the unavoidable and sold the Water Opera along with everything that had escaped the forty or fifty auction waves. 
Interestingly enough, the Menelaus had refused to prove they weren’t a petty and jealous bunch. The edict of the then-King of Kings had decreased the value of the Water Opera to one-tenth of its real value, and the auction had never taken place; the Lord Nyx – certainly Naxos XV, had gifted it to his favourite the Prince-Magister Romulus.
Zoe supposed that the chroniclers of the period had not been too shocked that the new master had instantly started to use the ex-opera as an aquatic centre and a place of debauchery when he visited the capital Hive. The Romulus sons, grandsons and extensive family had not been shy repeating the story over and over to every person they wanted to invite in the Water Opera. To make things more amusing from their point of view, they had kept the name and something like three-quarters of the architecture.
One hundred and twenty-five standard years later, eighty percent of the Romulus line had burned in the pyres lit by the Inquisition, and suddenly the laughing had stopped. A few days later, the Basileia had been chosen, and then the Romulus survivors had realised their problems had just been about to begin.
Today there wasn’t a single noble left of the ‘prestigious’ Romulus line. Those who had survived the long purges, the Arbites trials, the confiscations, the punitive taxes, and the punishments had lost their privileges, their possessions, their wealth, and the Water Opera – though she was sure the latter had been a minor priority when they were too busy wondering if the next evening was going to see them arrested and sent to a Penal Legion.
After a brief period of waiting, it had been put on sale at the same value fallen Prince-Magister Romulus had purchased it – administrative error, no doubt – and Zoe had decided to purchase it. 
It was relatively cheap for its location, she needed somewhere to relax when she visited Hive Athena, and once the erotic and idiotic decoration was quickly broken apart or sold away, the architects and workers she had hired had not taken long to transform it into a respectable flowery residence.


